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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A. Abbreviated Names

Wendell Terry Locke, the Respondent, will be referred to as Mr. Locke

or the Respondent. The Florida Bar will be referred to as the Bar.

B. Citations to the Record

References to the Report of Referee will be cited as (ROR p.**).

References to specific pleadings will be made by Tab number in the

Index of Record with specific reference to a page number when needed.

(Tab #1, p.**).

The transcript of the final hearing will be cited as (T.**).

The transcript of the sanction hearing will be cited as (TS. **)

The Bar’s exhibits will be cited as (TFB-Ex. *) with specific reference

to a page number when needed.

Respondent’s exhibit will be cited as (R-Ex. *).

The Bar provides an appendix of critical portions of the record to

facilitate review. This brief cites to the appendix as (A. **).
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NATURE OF THE CASE

The Bar seeks review of the Report of Referee in this disciplinary

proceeding in which Wendell Terry Locke is the Respondent. The Referee

recommends that this Court find Mr. Locke guilty of eight violations of the

Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

The Bar seeks review of only the Referee’s recommended sanction,

which is a non-rehabilitative 90-day suspension. Mr. Locke argued to the

Referee that his personal or emotional problems stemming from the effects

of long-term racial discrimination, should be grounds for mitigation. (TS. 9).

Having received no counseling prior to the sanction hearing, he requested

that the Referee order counseling in lieu of suspension to deal with Mr.

Locke’s “hypersensitivity to race issues.” (TS. 10-11). The Bar does not

disagree that such counseling is needed, but it submits that the competent

substantial evidence and a proper application of the Standards requires a

period of actual rehabilitation in this case for that purpose. The Bar submits

that a one-year rehabilitative suspension is appropriate under the case law

and Standards, and hopefully will be sufficient to allow Mr. Locke thereafter

to petition successfully for reinstatement to the Bar.

Mr. Locke has filed a cross-review of all issues in the Report.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A Pending Related Case.

This case is closely related to the pending case of The Florida Bar v.

Patterson, Case No. SC19-2070. Both cases arise from conduct occurring

during litigation in a case referred to as the Bussey-Morice case. See

Bussey-Morrice v. Kennedy, 775 Fed. Appx. 1003 (11th Cir. 2019).1 Mr.

Patterson was the original counsel of record for the plaintiff in that case when

it was filed in December 2010, and Mr. Locke entered an appearance as co-

counsel on May 17, 2012. (TFB-Ex. 4).

Mr. Patterson’s case involves some misconduct occurring prior to Mr.

Locke’s appearance, and this case involves some misconduct by Mr. Locke

that is not the focus of the proceeding against Mr. Patterson. Both cases

were commenced based on Judge Mendoza’s lengthy sanctions order,

which was entered at the end of the Bussey-Morice case, detailing the

misconduct. (TFB-Ex. 69)(A. 76). Both proceedings were assigned to Judge

Ernest A. Kollra, Jr., as Referee. And in both cases, he recommended a 90-

1 Apparently, the correct spelling of the Personal Representative’s name in

this case is “Bussey-Morice,” but at times in the record it is spelled

“Bussey-Morrice,” as reflected in the style of the Eleventh Circuit’s opinion.
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day suspension. In both cases, the Bar is seeking a rehabilitative

suspension.

Mr. Patterson had been suspended for a year in November 2018 for

misconduct in an earlier case. See The Florida Bar v. Patterson, 257 So. 3d

56 (Fla. 2018)(Case No. SC16-1438). That one-year suspension is used in

this case as the primary precedent to support a similar one-year suspension

for Mr. Locke.

The Facts

The 46-page Report of Referee contains an extensive section

containing the findings of fact. (ROR p. 3-38)(A. 32-67). The complaint in

this case was filed largely as a result of Judge Carlos Mendoza’s 42-page

sanction order entered as Document 612 in the Bussey-Morice case on

January 12, 2018. (TFB-Ex. 69)(A. 76). The Florida Bar introduced into

evidence in this proceeding many exhibits, primarily a large portion of the

filings in the Bussey-Morice case, not only at the district court level but also

at the Eleventh Circuit. (TFB-Ex. 1-82). The index to these exhibits is in the

appendix. (A. 11). These documents are roughly 1600 pages of filings. The

Bar’s exhibits also include filings in a lawsuit against Elizabeth Warren as the

Clerk of the Middle District of Florida. (TFB-Ex. 84-86)(A. 139). These filings

involve a case filed in the Southern District of Florida and appealed to the
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Eleventh Circuit. Finally, the exhibits include a Petition for Writ of Certiorari

filed in the U.S. Supreme Court in November 2019. (TFB-Ex. 88).

As a result of the volume of this record, and the fact that the Bar is

challenging only the recommended sanction, the Bar will not attempt a full

discussion of the record. This Court may likely need to read the ROR and

Judge Mendoza’s sanction order to obtain a better sense of the overall

dimensions of these violations. This statement will attempt to summarize key

events in roughly chronological order.

1. Mr. Locke enters the case as co-counsel on May 17, 2012.

Mr. Patterson had already filed this lawsuit against the seven police

officers of the City of Rockledge and against the City before Mr. Locke

appeared in the case. (TFB-Ex. 4). There had been considerable discovery

and other activity in the file, and the Fourth Amended Complaint had been

filed shortly before Mr. Locke appeared. (TFB-Ex. 3). Indeed that amended

complaint was document 243 in the case file.

The complaint is civil rights complaint alleging a wrongful death arising

from excessive force by the seven police officers. It does not allege racial

discrimination, and it is not based on allegations related to the race of the

decedent, who was African-American. The full facts of the case are well-
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described in the decisions of the Eleventh Circuit, ruling that the case was

barred by qualified immunity. (TFB-Ex. 38, 60)(A. 169-176).

In a nutshell, as the opinions explain, the decedent in Bussey-Morice

went to a hospital while experiencing a psychotic episode, apparently

connected to cocaine use. (T. 478). He became unmanageable in the

emergency room and the hospital called 911 for help. The officers

responded. After they arrived, they struggled with the decedent. A nurse

gave him a sedative, and he was tased at least twice by police officers. The

hospital provided a pillowcase that was put over his head by the police. After

he was strapped on a gurney, he stopped breathing and died. There was a

dispute about the cause of death with the medical examiner attributing the

death to cocaine, and the plaintiff’s expert to the actions of the police. (A.

[the opinion). The complaint against the officers was based on theories of

excessive force as the violation of civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The

claims against the City were wrongful death tort claims under state law.

(TFB-Ex. 3).

Mr. Patterson had already had difficulties with opposing counsel and

the court before Mr. Locke appeared in the case. (T. 448, 452-54). Mr.

Locke explained that Mr. Patterson sought out his help to be a “buffer”

between Mr. Patterson and opposing counsel because “bad blood” had
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developed between them. (T. 448). He also needed help with writing and

presenting a written argument that might overcome the considerable

obstacle of qualified immunity. (T. 448).2

But within six weeks, on June 20, 2012, in case document 288, Mr.

Locke sought to calm the waters by filing a pleading describing the police

officers as “the brutality officers.” The defendants responded in October

2012 with a motion to strike and a motion in limine that describe the full extent

of this conduct. (TFB-Ex. 12-14). At a telephone motions hearing before

Judge Honeywell a few days later on October 17, 2012, at which Mr. Locke

was the only counsel to appear for the plaintiff, Judge Honeywell made it

emphatically clear that the “behavior” she had seen demonstrated in the

orders and “written submissions” prior to her being assigned the case was

behavior that “will not be tolerated by this Court.” (TFB-Ex. 26, p. 22-23).

Trying not to point the blame too directly at either side, she stated: “We will

all be professional. We will refer to people by their names, and we will limit

2 One of the first difficulties after Mr. Locke appeared was a pretrial

conference meeting for which Mr. Patterson was not prepared and Mr.

Locke had not assisted with writing jury instructions, verdict forms, etc.

This resulted in a violation that is well discussed in the Report and will not

be discussed here because, by itself, it would not support a rehabilitative

suspension and, while involving misconduct, it is not the major issue that

requires a rehabilitative suspension. (ROR p. 5-11)(A. 34-40).
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our comments to the facts that are necessary for disposition of the motions

before the Court.” (TFB-Ex. 26, p. 23)(ROR p. 19)(A. 48).

Mr. Locke responded to this direct instruction from Judge Honeywell

by filing a “response” to the motion to strike and motion in limine using “The

Brutality Officers” in its title, in footnote #1 which contains a version of the

facts that appears to greatly exaggerate the evidence reviewed by the

Eleventh Circuit, and in virtually every paragraph. (TFB-Ex. 22)(A. 118). He

does the same in subsequent documents. (TFB-Ex. 24, 27)(A. 124). Mr.

Locke’s response to the motion in limine, which contains some very unusual

content, is quoted extensively in the Referee’s Report. (ROR p. 17)(A. 46).

Several months later, Mr. Locke filed a “Response Vehemently

Opposing” defense motions to enforce court orders in which he repeatedly

calls the defendants “Brutality Officers” and claims in footnote #1 that the

Defendants are engaging in “vexacious litigation,” which he maintains was

encouraged by the magistrate because “The Magistrate has ruled in favor of

the Brutality Defendants in every discovery motion. . even in instances

where there was no legitimate dispute between the parties and the Brutality

Officer’s attorneys could not be deemed more credible than the Plaintiff’s

attorney.” (TFB-Ex. 34 p. 2, ft. 1) (emphasis original)(A. 130).
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A month later, he filed a response with an argument heading: “There’s

nothing disparaging about referring to the Defendants collectively as the

‘Brutality Officers.’” (TFB-Ex. 35). A comparable argument was filed in an

amended response. (TFB-Ex. 37).

It should be noted that the filings beginning with the “vehement”

opposition were entered after Judge Honeywell had granted summary

judgment in favor of five of the seven officers. (TFB-Ex. 33). Thus, in Mr.

Locke’s mind, there was nothing wrong with referring to the “collective”

defendants in this manner even after the Court had ruled in favor of five of

them.

On October 1, 2014, the Eleventh Circuit reversed Judge Honeywell

as to her denial of summary judgment for the remaining two officers. (TFB-

Ex 38)(A. 163). On remand, in January 2015, Judge Honeywell entered an

unopposed judgment for all defendants. (TFB-Ex. 41-42).

Mr. Locke filed a motion to vacate that judgment, followed by an

amended motion to vacate judgment, based on newly discovered evidence

on January 25, 2015. (TFB-Ex. 45, 47). It was based on a hand-written

affidavit notarized by Mr. Patterson from a witness who had been known

since the day of the event and who had been previously interviewed by
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FDLE. (TFB-Ex 2). The defendants filed a motion for Rule 11 sanctions

claiming this motion was frivolous. (TFB-Ex. 54).

2. Events after the case was transferred to Judge Mendoza

Judge Mendoza was appointed to the federal district court bench in

June 2014. (T. 161). He was assigned to the Orlando Division where there

had been a vacancy for a long time, and he was transferred many old cases,

especially from Judge Honeywell and Judge Fawsett. (T. 161-62). Judge

Honeywell had already entered the final judgment when the case was

transferred to him, but the motion to vacate and motions for sanctions were

unresolved.

Judge Mendoza issued an order in May 2015 denying the motion to

vacate, finding that it did not satisfy even one of the five required elements

of such a motion. (TFB-Ex. 56). He stayed the case while Mr. Locke again

appealed. (TFB-Ex. 58). Mr. Locke’s “brief” requesting the stay contained a

footnote claiming that opposing counsel had “personally attacked” him as a

new strategy to “kill the messenger.” It at least implies that the Eleventh

Circuit is biased in favor of law enforcement. (TFB-Ex. 57)(A. 134).

During this second appeal, Mr. Locke asked opposing counsel to

consent to an extension on the day his brief was due. (TFB-Ex. 59). The

email was sent to Mr. Flood with a copy to Mr. Walker. The request did not
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explain any emergency reason for the request. Mr. Flood simply responded

that he had no objection, but Mr. Walker also responded asking that “in the

future you comply with the rules that require a motion for extension be filed

at least 7 days in advance of the deadline.” Mr. Locke responded to this

seemingly non-inflammatory email with an email chastising Mr. Walker for

the response, stating in part:

Were you concerned about my recognition and

interpretation of the rules? Should I be thanking you? Should I

say: “Thank you, Massa Walker, for showing me how to practice

law?” Is this where we are now, Mr. Walker? Maybe I’m too

sensitive. Maybe I’m reading too much into your comments, but

I don’t think so. I will continue to remain courteous to you, and

ask for the same in return.

(TFB-Ex. 59).

The final judgment was affirmed in August 2016 with an opinion

containing a footnote explaining that Mr. Locke’s version of the events was

not based on inferences reasonable from the record. (TFB-Ex 60. ft.1)(A.

174).

On remand, Judge Mendoza held a hearing that was transcribed and

he issued on order on the various outstanding sanction motions. (TFB-Ex.

66-69). The order, entered in January 2018, is long and detailed. (A. 76). It

did not grant all of the motions, and it ruled in favor of Mr. Locke on some

issues under Rule 11. (TFB-Ex. 69, p. 24)(A. 99). However, under 28 U.S.C.
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§ 1927, it found that Mr. Locke had engaged in unreasonable and vexatious

conduct, referencing in part the unfounded criticism of the magistrate and the

conduct involving the various “Brutality Officers” filings. (TFB-Ex. 69, p.

27)(A. 102). On its face, the order referred this matter to the Bar, noting in

footnote 21 that some misconduct was attributable to Mr. Patterson, but that

Mr. Locke was also responsible as co-counsel and as author of many of the

offending documents. (TFB-Ex. 69, p. 40-42)(A. 115-17).

It should be noted that Judge Mendoza was deposed and testified in

this proceeding. (T. 160-219). He explained why he believed Mr. Locke was

over the line. (T. 166-170). His closing answer, refusing to agree that Mr.

Locke was not suggesting he was racially biased – clearly and rather

personally explains why he does not understand why Mr. Locke would think

he was a racist. (T. 218-19).

3. Events following the entry of Judge Mendoza’s Sanction Order in
January 2018.

Following the entry of this order, a series additional events happened.

First, Mr. Locke filed a long motion for reconsideration in the name of

his client. The motion argues that Judge Mendoza, under “the law of the

case,” must impose the sanctions on the client and not the lawyers. (TFB-

Ex. 71, p. 3-6). Mr. Locke further argues, even in a heading, that “all
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vexatious and bad faith conduct occurred prior to undersigned’s

appearance.” (TFB-Ex. 71, p. 8). Thus, he was trying to shift all blame to Mr.

Patterson, who had asked for his assistance to “buffer” the problems. A few

days later, he withdrew the section of the motion arguing law of the case, but

he left in all of the references to “Bussey-Morice” doing various acts,

including calling the defendants “brutality officers.” (TFB-Ex. 71, p. 18).

Second, in May 2018, he filed a “Request for Judicial Oversight” with

the chairman of both the House and Senate Judiciary Committees. (TFB-

Ex. 90)(A. 150).

Third, after the motion for reconsideration was denied, he filed an

appeal of the order in the name of his client in August 2018, later amending

the notice to appeal to name both the client and both lawyers. (TFB-Ex. 76-

77). His brief argues many issues, including that Judge Mendoza never had

jurisdiction because the transfer from Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza

had not been done procedurally in accordance with Mr. Locke’s reading of

the rules, and because Judge Mendoza had denied him due process. (R-

Ex. 89). The alleged procedurally faulty transfer to Judge Mendoza had not

been challenged at the time of the transfer, and it was not alleged to have

caused any actual harm, other than a change from Judge Honeywell to

Judge Mendoza as the presiding judge.
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At the oral argument, Chief Judge Carnes’ first question to Mr. Locke

was: “Therefore, what?” (R-Ex. 92). That simple question as to the odd

jurisdictional argument was never really answered. The Eleventh Circuit

affirmed the order in August 2019, rejecting the arguments that Judge

Mendoza lacked jurisdiction and that he should have recused himself. (TFB-

Ex. 79).

Fourth, in March 2019, he filed a complaint of judicial misconduct

against Chief Judge Anne C. Conway, as well as Judge Mendoza. (R-Ex.

91).

Fifth, in November 2019, he submitted a petition for writ of certiorari to

the U.S. Supreme Court, claiming that the short per curiam opinion issued

by the Eleventh Circuit after he could not answer the question, “therefore,

what?”, involved issues warranting a review by the U.S. Supreme Court.

(TFB-Ex. 86).

Sixth, in response to his loss in the Eleventh Circuit, Mr. Locke also

filed a motion to stay and two amended motions to stay in the Eleventh

Circuit, asking that court to stay proceedings in the district court, including

collection of the monetary sanctions, because Judge Mendoza never had

jurisdiction. These motions are arguing the same arguments he had just lost

in the appeal. (TFB-Ex. 82a-c).
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Seventh, while the appeal was still pending, he had filed a writ of

mandamus in the Eleventh Circuit seeking the production of extensive

documents from the Clerk of the Middle District, Elizabeth Warren. (R-Ex.

88). The petition was denied. (TFB-Ex. 84b-f). Undeterred, Mr. Locke filed

a “Petition for Rehearing en banc,” which was also denied. (TFB-Ex. 84 d-

g).

Eighth, he filed a lawsuit against Elizabeth Warren in April 2019 in the

Southern District alleging a common law right to access to judicial records

and claiming that her actions were intentional and “tantamount to the

commission of wire fraud.” (TFB-Ex. 86a)(A. 139 & 143, ¶ 13). His complaint

was dismissed, and Mr. Locke amended the complaint, which was dismissed

again. (TFB-Ex. 86b-e). He filed a notice of appeal in March 2020, but then

took a voluntary dismissal of the action in May 2020. (TFB-Ex. 86f-i).

All of these actions were taken to avoid paying or otherwise to

challenge his responsibility for the sanctions imposed on him by the district

court for misconduct that began immediately after Judge Honeywell politely

informed him that such conduct would not be tolerated.

In addition to the misconduct described in the preceding pages, the

Report of the Referee quotes and discusses numerous times when Mr.

Locke injected his sense of racism and racial injustice in America into filings
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in a case, even though the pleadings had no claim or allegations about race

discrimination. He compares the action of the “brutality officers” to people

wearing “white sheets over their heads,” and has disturbing references to

Stevie Wonder and Ray Charles, claiming that he himself has experienced

numerous, unjustified traffic stops and searches by law enforcement in

Central Florida.” (ROR p. 16-18).

The Bar will not quote those sections at length in this brief, and it is not

claiming that Mr. Locke has not been subjected to the discrimination that he

describes. The Bar simply believes that this record manifests a lawyer

whose personal experiences since childhood require counseling today; that

pleadings and other filings in litigation intended to serve the legal objectives

of a client, who does have justiciable claims, cannot serve as a substitute for

genuine therapy for a lawyer whose past trauma haunts him.

4. Mr. Locke’s testimony concerning his own experiences.

Mr. Locke provided extensive testimony at the final hearing. (T. 418-

621). This section does not summarize all of that testimony; it focuses on

his claim of emotional problems. He explained that growing up in Palm

Beach County, he started elementary school in the segregated schools. (T.

419). He began attending integrated schools in fourth grade, and some of

those schools were named for confederate generals. (T. 421-22). From his
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description, it was not a very pleasant experience. In addition to the issues

related to school integration, he had difficulties with a speech impediment

and learned to have “thick skin” and to “throw hands pretty good when I had

to fight.” (T. 420). When he went off to college at the University of Florida,

he was introduced to what he described as “blatant racism.” (T. 421). He

ultimately transferred to a historically black university. (T. 423).

These experiences with racial discrimination did not end with college.

He was aggressively stopped by the police when he was a younger man. (T.

576). Even in 2014-15, he explained that he was stopped and searched

thirteen to fourteen times by the police when he owned a black Dodge

Charger. (T. 489, 575-78).

He believed that he had been “arguably traumatized” by these

experiences, and knew “it impacts how I move, what I do.” (T. 579). At the

final hearing, he testified that he had never received any counseling, but that

he would be “receptive to it.” (T. 579).

The Bar Proceeding.

The Bar opened its file after it received Judge Mendoza’s sanction

order. Mr. Locke filed his written statement refuting the alleged misconduct

in May 2019. (TFB-Ex. 89). After a grievance committee found probable

cause, the Bar filed the complaint in this proceeding in November 2019.
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(Tab. #1). It describes the events discussed above except for the conclusion

of the lawsuit against Elizabeth Warren, which happened after the complaint

was filed.

The pleadings in this proceeding are somewhat more extensive and

contested than normal, involving 119 entries. (A. 4-10). Mr. Locke

unsuccessfully moved to disqualify the Referee (Tab #88, 91), and filed an

odd “petition for writ of certiorari” claiming the Referee had departed from the

essential requirements of the law. (Tab #63, 66). The final hearing was held

in-person on December 7-9, 2020. The Bar called four witnesses – three of

the opposing counsel in Bussey-Morice, Mr. Bonner, Mr. Walker, and Mr.

Flood, and Judge Carlos Mendoza. Mr. Locke called only himself. Mr.

Patterson did not testify.

Following the hearing, the Referee announced his recommendations

of guilt and explained his reasoning. (Tab #110). Consistent with the

findings of fact in the Report of Referee, he recommended findings of guilt

for eight violations:

1. Rule 3-4.3, misconduct;

2. Rule 4-1.7, conflict of interest with a current client

3. Rule 4-3.1, meritorious claims;

4. Rule 4-3.2, failure to expedite litigation;
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5. Rule 4.3.4(c), fairness to opposing parties and counsel;

6. Rule 4-3.5(c), impartiality and decorum of the tribunal

7. Rule 4-8.2(a) impugning the integrity of judges; and,

8. Rule 4-8.4(d) misconduct prejudicial to the administration of

justice. (ROR p. 39).

At the subsequent sanction hearing, no witnesses were called, and the

Referee announced his recommended sanction immediately following the

arguments. Mr. Locke was represented by Mr. Alan, his former law partner,

who discussed his partner’s need for counseling. (TS. 8-12).3 Mr. Locke

also addressed the Referee himself concerning his own view of the case.

(TS. 41-44). The recommended sanction, a non-rehabilitative 90-day

suspension, and the evidence on mitigation and aggravation will be

discussed in the argument section of this brief.

3 Mr. Alan was not involved at all in the underlying case, where Mr. Locke

appeared under a different law firm name. But in 2018, the two lawyers

had a law firm together. (TFB-Ex. 86, exhibits 1 and 2 within that exhibit).
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is Mr. Locke’s first disciplinary proceeding. The Bar does not

contend that he should be disbarred. It truly hopes that he can rehabilitate

himself and return as a lawyer to represent clients in the civil rights cases for

which he obviously has a passion. But the Bar submits that he will not be

prepared to handle those cases until he addresses the hypersensitivity that

his lawyer, who was also his law partner, identified as the source of his

problems and a condition that required professional help.

It is not entirely clear from this record that Mr. Locke is fully committed

to receiving the necessary counseling, but if he does, the Bar believes that

a one-year suspension should be sufficient. While some of his misconduct

may warrant a sanction without regard to his emotional problems, this is not

a case where the Bar is seeking to “punish” Mr. Locke for the majority of the

misconduct found by the Referee. The Bar hopes that the one-year

suspension will “deter” other lawyers in the sense that it will encourage them

to seek voluntary help earlier. But the members of the public that Mr. Locke

seeks to help cannot safely receive that help until he helps himself.

In recommending only a 90-day, non-rehabilitative suspension, the

Referee applied the correct Standards – 6.2 Abuse of Legal Process and 4.3

Failure to Avoid Conflict of Interest – and correctly recognized that those
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Standards supported a suspension. But the Referee’s findings of fact on the

aggravating factors and the mitigating factors were not supported by

competent substantial evidence. Moreover, his immediate decision to

recommend a 90-day suspension is not supported by a reasonable balance

of the aggravating and mitigating factors.

The Referee found no aggravating factors. (ROR p. 41)(TS. 46). But

Mr. Locke had been a lawyer since 1997 and had 15-years of experience

when this multiple-year event commenced. Mr. Locke himself emphasized

his experience. Thus, Standard 3.2(b)(9) – substantial experience in the

practice of law – was an aggravating factor.

Despite eight violations arising from different acts of misconduct at

separate times, including an insistence on calling the defendants “brutality

officers” in multiple filings after Judge Honeywell clearly instructed that such

misconduct must end, the Referee did not find “multiple offenses” to be a

factor. The clear and convincing evidence and the eight recommendations

of guilt clearly supported Standard 3.2(b)(4).

At the sanctions hearing, Mr. Locke did not recognize the wrongful

nature of his conduct. (TS. 41-44). He was not apologetic for his failure to

abide by Judge Honeywell’s instructions, or for his unfounded claims that

Judge Mendoza was biased against him. He had continued to pursue a
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“jurisdictional” appeal concerning the transfer of this case to Judge Mendoza

upon his assignment to the Orlando Division long after any lawyer should

have realized that the argument was frivolous. He had sued the clerk of the

Middle District of Florida in a frivolous action, alleging acts “tantamount to

wire fraud.” (TFB-Ex. 85 & 86)(A. 139). And he filed a frivolous petition in

the U.S. Supreme Court in his client’s name in a last-ditch effort to reverse

the order sanctioning him. (TFB-Ex. 88). But even at the end of the final

hearing in this case, he claimed that the testimony of Judge Mendoza in this

proceeding should now allow him to reopen his client’s case in federal court

and vacate the orders because Judge Mendoza had made it clear he had no

jurisdiction. (T. 682-83). Standard 3.2(b)(7) – refusal to acknowledge the

wrongful nature of the conduct – applies to this case.

In mitigation, the Referee relied on Standard 3.3(b)(3) – emotional

problems – not because of some short-term issue arising at the time of the

events, but for the hypersensitivity issues developed over a lifetime that

affect Mr. Locke’s ability to handle litigation. Those emotional problems

arose from his own interactions with police over a period of many years,

beginning prior to becoming a lawyer. This brief presents an analysis of the

decision-making process that helps sort out when such problems are a basis

for mitigation, and when they are a basis for a rehabilitative suspension. In
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this case, the evidence demonstrates clearly that they are a basis for a

rehabilitative suspension.

The Referee relied on an absence of selfish motive in recommending

this sanction when the evidence did not actually support mitigation for that

reason. He relied on Mr. Locke’s “cooperative” attitude during this

proceeding because Mr. Locke was cooperative during the hearing, despite

a docket that does not demonstrate cooperation on paper.

The Bar submits that the Referee’s recommended sanction is not

supported by the competent, substantial evidence and it has no reasonable

basis in existing case law and the standards. What is more important, the

sanction is unlikely to address the underlying issues that inhibit Mr. Locke

from professionally representing clients in litigation. He needs a one-year

rehabilitative suspension.
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THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS IN THE SANCTION PHASE OF A
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING

In a typical review of an opinion from a district court of appeal, the

parties are obligated to discuss the standard of review in their briefs. But

this is an original proceeding filed under this Court’s exclusive jurisdiction to

“to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law and the discipline

of persons admitted.” Art. V, §15, Fla. Const.

Nevertheless, it is still useful to begin a review of the referee’s report

with a consideration of the decision-making process and the applicable rules

governing this Court’s ultimate determination on the issues presented, which

in this review are only the issues necessary to determine an appropriate

sanction.

Findings of Fact

As this Court explained in The Florida Bar v. Picon, 205 So. 3d 759,

764 (Fla. 2016): “This Court's review of a referee's findings of fact is limited.

If a referee's findings of fact are supported by competent, substantial

evidence in the record, this Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute

its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Frederick, 756 So. 2d

79, 86 (Fla. 2000).” See also The Florida Bar v. Schwartz, 284 So. 3d 393,

396 (Fla. 2019); The Florida Bar v. Parrish, 241 So. 3d 66, 72 (Fla. 2018);

The Florida Bar v. Vining, 721 So. 2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 1998); The Florida
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Bar v. Jordan, 705 So. 2d 1387, 1390 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Spann,

682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996).

Recommendation of the Disciplinary Sanction

The Referee’s recommended sanction in a disciplinary proceeding is

subjected to greater review by this Court because of this Court’s ultimate

responsibility to make that decision:

In reviewing a referee’s recommended discipline, this Court’s

scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee’s

findings of fact because, ultimately, it is the Court’s responsibility

to order the appropriate sanction. See The Florida Bar v. Picon,

205 So. 3d 759, 765 (Fla. 2016) (citing The Florida Bar v.

Anderson, 538 So. 2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989)). At the same time,

this Court will generally not second-guess the referee’s

recommended discipline, as long as it has a reasonable basis in

existing case law and the standards. See The Florida Bar v.

Alters, 260 So. 3d 72, 83 (Fla. 2018); The Florida Bar v. De La

Torre, 994 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 2008).

The Florida Bar v. Altman, 294 So. 3d 844, 847 (Fla. 2020).

It is also important to consider that this Court has given notice to the

members of the Bar that it is moving toward harsher sanctions than in the

past. See The Florida Bar v. Rosenberg, 169 So. 3d 1155, 1162 (Fla. 2015).

In Rosenberg, this Court explained that since the decision in The Florida Bar

v. Bloom, 632 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1994), the Court has moved toward imposing
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stricter sanctions for unethical and unprofessional conduct. See also Altman

at 847. As a result, case law prior to 2015 needs to be examined carefully

to make certain that the application of sanctions in these earlier cases

comports with current standards.

Consideration of Mitigating and Aggravating Factors – Both as
Findings of Fact and as a Mixed Question of Law and Fact during
the Decision to Select the Appropriate Sanction.

A Referee’s findings on mitigating and aggravating factors are treated

essentially like any other finding of fact:

[A] referee's findings of fact carry a presumption of correctness

that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support

in the record. See The Florida Bar v. Summers, 728 So. 2d 739,

741 (Fla. 1999). This standard applies in reviewing a referee's

findings of mitigation and aggravation. See, e.g., The Florida Bar

v. Wolis, 783 So. 2d 1057, 1059 (Fla. 2001); The Florida Bar v.

Hecker, 475 So. 2d 1240, 1242 (Fla. 1985).

The Florida Bar v. Arcia, 848 So. 2d 296, 299 (Fla. 2003).

“[A] referee's findings of mitigation and aggravation carry a

presumption of correctness and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous or

without support in the record.” The Florida Bar v. Germain, 957 So. 2d 613,

621 (Fla. 2007). The burden of demonstrating that the findings in aggravation

or mitigation are clearly erroneous lies with the party challenging the findings.

See The Florida Bar v. Glick, 693 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1997) (holding that



27

the burden of disproving a referee's findings of fact or recommendations as

to guilt is upon the party challenging those findings). The Florida Bar v.

Marcellus, 249 So. 3d 538, 544 (Fla. 2018).

The Referee’s findings on the factors of aggravation and mitigation are

applied to “justify” an increase or a decrease in the “degree of discipline to

be imposed.” Florida Standards 3.2(a), 3.3(a). This process of balancing

the positive and negative factors is a mixed question of fact and law. It is

part of the ultimate decision to impose a sanction performed by this Court.
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ARGUMENT

I. The Referee erred in finding no aggravating factors in this case
and in finding “personal or emotional problems” to be a
mitigating factor.

The eight violations

Before examining the aggravating and mitigating factors, it is helpful to

briefly consider the violations and the Standards affected by those factors.

All of the violations recommended by the Referee are supported by

competent, substantial evidence in this case. The repeated use of “brutality

officers” when instructed to call the opposing parties by their names was both

misconduct for Rule 3-4.3 and unfairness to opposing parties under Rule 4-

3.4(c). The repeated claims that opposing counsel were engaging in

frivolous conduct, threatening his personal safety, and acts comparable to

the worst of racism was certainly unfairness to the opposing counsel.

Showing up for a pretrial meeting with nothing prepared is a more typical

violation of this rule.

Mr. Locke’s argument that the sanctions should be imposed on his

client was a violation of Rule 4-1.7, as an unwaivable conflict of interest with

his client, and that argument was only halfway withdrawn. While the actual

lawsuit filed for his client was not a claim lacking merit at least at its inception,
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certainly many of the claims and actions filed beginning with the amended

motion to vacate judgment were without any merit in violation of Rule 4-3.1.

Concerning Rule 4-3.2, failure to expedite litigation, the fact that he and

Mr. Patterson were very unprepared for the pretrial process is a failure to

expedite litigation, and the many motions and proceedings during the

endgame process that kept the sanction issue alive long after it should have

been resolved are proof of that violation. Clearly, he impugned the integrity

of a magistrate, Judge Mendoza, and the Chief Judge of the Southern District

in violation of Rule 4-8.2(a).

There is no doubt that almost from the beginning to the end, many of

his actions were prejudicial to the administration of justice in violation of Rule

4-8.4(d). Especially, his various legal actions against the Clerk, seeking to

prove that this mundane transfer of cases to a new judge was somehow a

grand conspiracy to harm him or his client fits this category.

Rule 4-3.5(c) prohibits a lawyer from engaging in conduct intended to

disrupt a tribunal. There is no doubt that many of the filings by Mr. Locke

were acts that did in fact disrupt the court. They required extensive

unnecessary hearings and required court personnel, including the Clerk

herself, to handle matters that disrupted the tribunal.

The comment to this rule explains:
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The advocate’s function is to present evidence and

argument so that the cause may be decided according to the law.

Refraining from abusive or obstreperous conduct is a corollary of

the advocate’s right to speak on behalf of litigants. . . . An

advocate can present the cause, protect the record for

subsequent review, and preserve professional integrity by

patient firmness no less effectively than be belligerence or

theatrics.

Admittedly, the comment is aimed at the more typical problem of a

lawyer whose disruption occurs in open court. But as this Court is well

aware, theatrics and belligerence occur far too often on paper as well. “I’m

only disruptive at the keyboard, and not at the podium” seems to be Mr.

Locke’s argument in this case. It may take a little more to disrupt a court on

paper than in the courtroom, but that disruption occurred here.

These violations, with the possible exception of the botched pretrial

meeting, are intentional conduct, not matters of negligence. See The Florida

Bar v. Watson, 76 So. 3d 915, 922 (Fla. 2011)(recognizing “the well-

established principle that ‘in order to satisfy the element of intent it must only

be shown that the conduct was deliberate or knowing,’” citing The Florida

Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1999)). It was often conduct that

was tactically selected. From the Bar’s perspective, however, it is more

important to appreciate that much of this conduct is symptomatic of a serious

underlying problem that Mr. Locke needs to bring under control if he is to be



31

an effective, professional litigator serving the clients he clearly wishes to

serve with zealous advocacy.

The applicable Standards

The Referee relied on two primary Standards. First, he relied upon –

4.3 FAILURE TO AVOID CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and

on application of the factors to be considered in imposing

sanctions, the following sanctions are generally appropriate

in cases involving conflicts of interest:

. . .

(b) Suspension. Suspension is appropriate when a

lawyer knows of a conflict of interest, does not fully disclose

to a client the possible effect of that conflict, and causes injury

or potential injury to a client.

This Standard only applies to the violation of Rule 4-1.7 concerning Mr.

Locke’s conflict of interest with his client. It supports a suspension because

of the potential injury to the client. But the Bar does not contend that this

Standard is the focus of this case.

The second Standard, which is the focus here, is Standard 6.2, which

pertains to abuse of the legal process. It provides:

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and on

application of the factors to be considered in imposing sanctions,

the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases
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involving failure to expedite litigation or bring a meritorious claim,

or failure to obey any obligation under the rules of a tribunal

except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid

obligation exists:

. . .

(b) Suspension. Suspension is appropriate when a

lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule and causes injury

or potential injury to a client or a party or causes interference or

potential interference with a legal proceeding.

In this case, Mr. Locke’s conduct in pursuing frivolous matters

repeatedly violated several court rules. In some instances it violated, at a

minimum, Judge Honeywell’s clear oral instruction about the common

courtesy of calling parties by their names. There are multiple times where

misconduct occurs over this period of years to which this Standard applies,

warranting a suspension. Just considering his final unrelenting pursuit of

Clerk Warren for matters that should have been understood by him to be

frivolous at the outset would warrant some form of suspension.

Thus, the Referee correctly determined that the sanction should be

some form of suspension in this case. The issue that prompts this review is

his selection of a non-rehabilitative suspension instead of a rehabilitative

suspension.
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The aggravating factors

The Referee refused to find any aggravating factors in this case. (ROR

p. 41). At the sanction hearing, the Bar asked the Referee to consider:

(1) multiple offenses, (TS. 15),

(2) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of his misconduct, (TS. 16);

and,

(3) substantial experience in the law. (ts. 16-17).

The Bar also asked the Referee to consider Mr. Locke’s selfish motive

in reference to the conflict with his client, but the Bar does not dispute that

selfish motive would not justify any substantial increase in the penalty in this

case.

Standard 3.2(b)(4) – Multiple offenses.

The Referee refused to find multiple offenses in this case. It is

noteworthy that this same Referee also refused to find multiple offenses as

an aggravating factor in Mr. Patterson’s pending review. Similar to the

situation in Mr. Patterson’s case, there are multiple violations spread over a

period of years in this case. Thus, the Bar’s argument as to this aggravating

factor is essentially the same as in Mr. Patterson’s case.

This Referee simply believes that the aggravating factor of multiple

offenses applies only when the same conduct arises in a series of cases or
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with a series of clients. But this Court finds multiple offenses in cases like

this one. For example, it relied on multiple offenses for a suspension when

a lawyer took three small amounts of money from a cash register on separate

days while working in a store. See The Florida Bar v. Kinsella, 260 So. 3d

1046, 1047 (Fla. 2018).

The Referee is confusing multiple offenses with a pattern of

misconduct. A pattern often does involve a series of cases or clients. But

even a pattern of misconduct can occur in a single case. See The Florida

Bar v. Kinsella, 260 So. 3d 1046, 1047 (Fla. 2018). See also The Florida

Bar v. Parrish, 241 So. 3d 66, 68 (Fla. 2018)(multiple violations while

representing a corporation and its principal); The Florida Bar v. Brutus, 216

So. 3d 1286, 1288 (Fla. 2017)(multiple improper withdrawals from trust

account in one dissolution proceeding).

In this case, for example, Mr. Locke’s many repeated violations of

Judge Honeywell’s instructions to call the parties by their names and

choosing instead to use an emotionally charged description is actually a

pattern of misconduct. The Bar, however, does not believe that adding a

“pattern of misconduct” to the multiple violations in this case should be used

to justify a sanction above the one-year period needed for rehabilitation.
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Standard 3.2(b)(7) – Refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature
of his conduct

The Referee found that Mr. Locke’s statements at the sanction hearing

was “kind of half and half” an acknowledgment of the wrongful nature of his

conduct. (TS. 46)(ROR p. 41). But that was based on his statement that “if

what I did was wrong, I have to suffer the consequences.”

At the sanction hearing, Mr. Locke’s counsel argued that it was fine for

Mr. Locke to use “brutality officers” repeatedly in his motions and filings

because Judge Honeywell had only told the lawyers she would not tolerate

unprofessional behavior in the courtroom, and Mr. Locke had only used

“brutality officers” in his written filings. The Referee clearly did not accept

that argument, and Mr. Locke never apologized for the repeated abuse of

the parties on the other side of the case. Instead, when he spoke he claimed

he thought that thought the warning applied to Mr. Patterson who was not in

attendance at the hearing. (TS. 31-32). He continued to maintain that the

use of the phrase was appropriate. (TS. 33, 37).

He thought that Mr. Walker got “under my skin” during the email

exchange when he referred to Mr. Walker as “Massa Walker,” when the

exchange itself would not seem to provoke such a response. (TFB-Ex. 59).

He thinks the Bar’s prosecution of him was “unjust.” (TS. p.43)(A. 159).
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As to his criticism of the Eleventh Circuit for ruling against him on his

“jurisdictional” theory concerning the reassignment of the case to Judge

Mendoza, his explanation at the sanctions hearing was: “I know the federal

courts ruled the way they ruled, but you know, just because a federal court

ruled that blue is red, that doesn’t make it red, it makes it red for that case.”

(TS. 44)(A. 160). He further explained that, “So I’m not crazy, but I have to

accept how the Court rules, and so I guess I’ll navigate going forward, I guess

I’ll have to, I guess, ultimately, you know, whatever the Florida Supreme

Court decides… I’ll have to accept that and then avoid – avoid some of the

landmines that I – that I – well, stepped on.” (TS. 44)(A. 160).

Mr. Locke also argued his own case at the end of the guilt phase. (T.

661-714). The Bar does not rely on his argument at that time for proof of

lack of remorse, but there is nothing in that earlier argument that would

evidence remorse on his part.

The Bar submits that the transcript of the sanction hearing

demonstrates an unwillingness on the part of Mr. Locke to acknowledge the

unprofessionalism of his behavior. But, again, the Bar’s larger concern is

Mr. Locke’s failure to acknowledge in his own closing statement what his law

partner acknowledged – that Mr. Locke does have emotional problems that

require counseling.
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Standard 3.2(b)(9) – substantial experience in the law

Again, similar to Mr. Patterson’s pending case, the Referee refused

to find substantial experience in the law as an aggravating factor that applied

to Mr. Locke. Mr. Locke actually has more experience in the law than Mr.

Patterson. His sequence of misconduct in this case occurred later than the

sequence in Mr. Patterson’s case. In Mr. Locke’s response to this Bar

complaint, he emphasized his substantial experience in the law. (TFB-Ex.

89, p. 5-7). In his testimony, he detailed his extensive legal experience

including multiple civil rights trials. (T. 430-450).

In The Florida Bar v. Marcellus, 249 So. 3d 538, 544 (Fla. 2018), this

Court disapproved the Referee’s recommendation of a one-year suspension

and imposed an eighteen-month suspension where the Referee had found

substantial experience in the law to be an aggravating factor. The Report of

Referee in that case shows that Mr. Marcellus was licensed in 2003 and

committed his offenses in 2009 and 2010. (Case No. SC16-1773). Fifteen

years of experience in this case was clearly substantial experience.

The Bar is not arguing that these aggravating factors tip the scale to

warrant a three-year suspension or a disbarment for a lawyer whose conduct

should be punished as reprehensible. But in weighing the circumstances to

determine whether a rehabilitative suspension is needed to accomplish
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rehabilitation, it submits that the competent substantial evidence does

support these factors and they should have been considered by the Referee.

The mitigating factors

The Referee found five mitigating factors. (ROR p. 41-42). He found:

1. Standard 3.3(b)(1) – Absence of prior discipline;

2. Standard 3.3(b)(2) – Absence of dishonest or selfish motive;

3. Standard 3.3(b)(3) – Personal or emotional problems;

4. Standard 3.3(b)(4) – Timely effort to make restitution; and

5. Standard 3.3(b)(5) – Full and free disclosure to the Bar or

cooperative attitude toward the proceedings.

The Bar does not contest that the absence of prior discipline is a

significant mitigating factor in this case. As to factors 2, 4, and 5, The Bar

does not challenge the findings of fact; it primarily questions the weight to be

given to these factors, which is discussed in the next section of this brief.

The Bar does contest the Referee’s use of emotional problems as a

mitigating factor in this case. Whether the issue is viewed as the absence of

competent substantial evidence of emotional problems as a mitigator, or

whether it is viewed as evidence that causes the emotional problems to have

no mitigating weight in the balance of the applicable factors can probably be

debated. But either way, the emotional problems in a case like this case are
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evidence supporting a significant rehabilitative suspension, not a non-

rehabilitative suspension. This analysis requires some explanation.

A decision-making structure to address emotional problems.

Emotional problems are not a one-size-fits-all issue in disciplinary

proceedings. While it may be somewhat of an oversimplification, the Bar

suggests that the role of emotional problems depends on whether those

problems appear short-term or long-term, and whether the base-line

sanction would be a lesser sanction, a sanction approaching disbarment, or

a sanction that would normally be a mid-length suspension.

Especially when the base-line sanction is a lesser sanction or a short

non-rehabilitative suspension, and the emotional problem involves an

isolated loss of temper, or perhaps an acute illness, or a divorce that appears

to have resolved prior to the sanction hearing, the question concerning an

“emotional problem” is whether the lawyer’s culpability should be discounted

and the sanction mitigated because his or her conduct was the product of a

temporary emotional problem. See e.g., The Florida Bar v. McFall, 863 So.

2d 303, 308 (Fla. 2003) (recognizing that, in a case where the attorney’s

conduct was out of character, “mental problems … may impair judgment so

as to diminish culpability.”) (quoting The Florida Bar v. Shanzer, 572 So. 2d

1382, 1384 (Fla. 1991)).
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When the base-line sanction could be disbarment, such as in a case

involving a trust account violation, the question is not so much a matter of

culpability, but rather whether the lawyer can even be rehabilitated at all. An

emotional problem that appears short-term might be justification for a three-

year suspension rather than disbarment. See e.g., The Florida Bar v. Arcia,

848 So. 2d 296, 298 (Fla. 2003)(three-year suspension instead of

disbarment where lawyer stole law firm funds while experiencing family and

financial problems); The Florida Bar v. Tauler, 775 So. 2d 944 (Fla.

2000)(similar three-year suspension); The Florida Bar v. Shoureas, 913

So.2d 554, 559 (Fla. 2005)(three-year suspension for lawyer with chronic

depression). By contrast, a long-term problem in such a case is less likely

to be a problem that warrants mitigation, and such an emotional problem

may not justify a sanction less than disbarment. See The Florida Bar v.

Martinez-Genova, 959 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 2007).

When the question is which type of suspension to impose, non-

rehabilitative or rehabilitative (which is the question in this case), the answer

appears to fall into one of three categories:

First, if the emotional problem was short-term and it appears to be

resolved, the problem is a mitigator that should cause this Court to lean

toward a non-rehabilitative suspension or even a public reprimand because
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of the reduced culpability. See e.g., The Florida Bar v. Blau, 630 So. 2d

1085, 1086 (Fla. 1994) (finding that the attorney’s cooperation in receiving

therapy, among other things, was significant mitigation).

Second, if the emotional problem appears to be short-term, and it is

uncertain whether it is resolved or not, the emotional problem may still be a

mitigator, but it ought to cause this Court to seriously consider imposing a

non-rehabilitative sanction with a psychological evaluation and a period of

probation to provide confidence that the problem is unlikely to reappear.

See e.g., The Florida Bar v. Sayler, 721 So. 2d 1152 (Fla.1998)(lawyer

stalking opposing counsel in a workers compensation case where he

represented his own wife receives public reprimand, six months' probation,

and a psychiatric evaluation with completion of any recommended

treatment). The Florida Bar v. Cohen, 919 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 2005)(after

serious drug-related arrested, lawyer pleads nolo contendere and obtains

counseling both for drug-related issues and obsessive-compulsive disorder,

receiving a 90-day suspension, followed by three-years probation); The

Florida Bar v. Ratiner, 46 So. 3d 35 (Fla. 2010)(60-day suspension, followed

by two years’ probation with counseling, for misconduct involving an

emotional outburst during a deposition).
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Third, if the emotional problem appears to be a long-term issue and

the lawyer has not commenced (or perhaps not finished) treatment, then this

Court should lean toward a rehabilitative suspension. The reduced culpability

should cause the Court to attempt a shorter suspension then if the

misconduct had no such mitigator; but the suspension should still be for a

period adequate to allow for successful treatment. With this approach, the

sanctioned lawyer should have fewer difficulties obtaining reinstatement

following the suspension. This is obviously the preferred approach with

serious drug or alcohol impairment, and it makes sense to use that approach

in cases of emotional problems as well. See e.g., The Florida Bar v. Ford,

2013 WL 1632818, at *1 (Fla. 2013)(Case no. SC10-1661)(three-year

suspension, followed by two-years probation).

In this third category there is some need to consider Standard

3.3(b)(3), emotional problems, in conjunction with Standard 3.3(b)(10),

interim rehabilitation. When a case involves an emotional problem that the

lawyer has confronted, realized that it requires counseling, and has begun

counseling, this combination is clearly a set of factors this Court should treat

as a substantial set of mitigating factors that warrants a substantial reduction

in a sanction. On the other hand, when an emotional problem exists that
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requires counseling, and the lawyer has not sought out treatment, the

problem is not a reason for mitigation. It is a reason for concern.

It should be noted that each of these three categories is also affected

by whether the emotional problem is viewed as the predominate cause of

misconduct or as only a partial cause. In substance abuse cases, for

example, the problem is frequently the predominate cause of misconduct. In

other cases, it is not so clear that the emotional problem is more than a partial

contributing cause. See, e.g. The Florida Bar v. Erlenbach, 138 So. 3d 369

(Fla. 2014)(one year suspension from the practice of law, followed by a two-

year probationary period, was warranted for failure to pay taxes for self and

employees when lawyer’s husband had cancer, she was depressed, and

there was an economic downturn).

The Bar analyzes this case under this third category. Because the

source of this problem seems to predate Mr. Locke becoming a lawyer and

the problem appears to have contributed to his misconduct over a long period

in this case, and because he had not even begun treatment at the time of

the sanction hearing, the Bar submits that a rehabilitative suspension is

required by the evidence. Moreover, it does not appear that Mr. Locke’s

hypersensitivity to these issues was the predominate cause of some of this



44

misconduct. The Bar believes it is being optimistic by suggesting a one-year

suspension.

No competent substantial evidence of an emotional problem
that qualifies as a mitigation factor.

Under Standard 3.3(a), the definition of “mitigation” is “any factor that

justifies a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed.” The Bar fully

agrees that there is competent substantial evidence of emotional problems

in this case. That evidence is subjective and not based on opinion evidence,

but it is sufficient evidence to warrant a finding of the existence of emotional

problems. However, for a finding of an emotional problem that “justifies a

reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed,” the Bar submits that

something more is required.

There is no evidence of a short-term problem in this case that has

already been resolved. There is no evidence of a problem that is currently

subject to treatment. There is lots of evidence of a problem that will continue

and will reoccur unless Mr. Locke addresses the problem. Thus, the Bar

submits that there is no competent substantial evidence of an emotional

problem that justifies a reduction in the degree of discipline. There is only

evidence of an emotional problem. It is the type of problem that Mr. Locke

will need to demonstrate he has sufficiently resolved when he petitions for

reinstatement.
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In summary, this type of long-term emotional problem, when it is not

accompanied by interim rehabilitation, is just a problem. When it is

accompanied by interim rehabilitation, it can be a source of optimism and a

genuine mitigating factor signaling that a lesser sanction can be imposed.

Accordingly, the Bar submits that the Referee erred in finding competent

substantial evidence of the emotional problem that qualifies as a mitigator

during the determination of a sanction.

II. If the Referee had engaged in a balancing of the mitigating and
aggravating factors, they would have supported a one-year
rehabilitative suspension.

Obviously, the Referee did not consider the three aggravating factors

discussed in the previous section. He made his recommendation

immediately in open court, and there is no discussion of how he applied the

mitigating factors.

Clearly, multiple violations and experience in the practice of law

warrant an increase in the suspension from the shortest forms of non-

rehabilitative suspension. But refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of

his misconduct, especially when even his own lawyer sees that the conduct

warrants counseling, is the biggest factor that the Bar submits the Referee

erred in failing to consider.
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These aggravating factors balance against the mitigating factors. The

absence of prior discipline does add weight to that side of the scale. But the

Referee’s reliance on the absence of a dishonest or selfish motive should

add very little. The Bar is not claiming Mr. Locke was dishonest, but his initial

effort to place the sanctions on his client was selfish. And the long battle

over those sanctions seems selfish as well. If the absence of a selfish motive

adds weight to the scale on the side of mitigation, it is minimal.

Similarly a timely good faith effort to make restitution or rectify the

consequences of the misconduct is not a very impressive mitigation factor in

this case. Apparently, Mr. Locke did ultimately pay sanctions in this case,

but he filed multiple frivolous appeals and proceedings in an attempt to

overturn the order because he theorized that Judge Mendoza had no

“jurisdiction” to impose the sanctions. Frankly, his unrelenting fight over

Judge Mendoza’s jurisdiction feels more like an aggravating factor.

Mr. Locke did cooperate at the final hearing, and that is worthy of

consideration. However, if the Court examines the whole docket of pleadings

in this original proceeding, there were lots of steps that were less than

cooperative. (A. 4-10). The petition for certiorari is just hard to explain.

Given that lawyers are expected to cooperate with one another in all

litigation, this factor does not seem to add much weight.
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Finally, we have the emotional problems that were used as a mitigator

by the Referee. If this Court rejects the analysis in the preceding section in

which the Bar argued that the evidence did not support a finding of an

emotional problem that qualified as a mitigator, under that same analysis,

the emotional problem in this case should be given little or no weight in the

balance. This unresolved emotional problem is not really something to

reduce a suspension when the suspension is needed to help the lawyer

address the problem.

The Bar submits that when the aggravating factors are added and the

mitigating factors are adjusted to provide proper consideration of the nature

of the emotional issue in this case, the Standards and the case law require

a rehabilitative suspension, and the Bar suggests that a one-year

suspension should be a sufficient for rehabilitation.

III. The case law supports a one-year rehabilitative suspension.

In the Report of Referee, the Referee lists without discussion the cases

provided by both side prior to the hearing. (ROR p. 39-40). The cases

provided by Mr. Locke are not bar disciplinary cases and appear to have

been provided for other purposes. The Referee asked questions and

otherwise guided the flow of the sanctions hearing and the case law was not

discussed in any detail.
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The Bar provided several cases that it believed to be useful in

determining whether its proposed one-year suspension was in the

appropriate range for the sanction in this case. (ROR p. 39). But one case

stands out as sufficiently similar to strongly support the Bar’s suggestion and

to question the Referee’s recommendation of a 90-day suspension. See The

Florida Bar v. Patterson, 257 So. 3d 56 (Fla. 2018).

The Patterson case was Mr. Patterson’s prior disciplinary proceeding

in which he received a one-year suspension. Mr. Patterson’s first proceeding

also involved a civil rights action, but one in which Mr. Locke played no role.

Mr. Patterson filed documents and sent letters implying that a federal judge

was biased in favor of opposing counsel. He made various “incendiary and

disparaging comments” in his filings, and he filed a frivolous appeal in the

name of his client concerning the sanctions against him personally. When a

show cause order was issued concerning whether to award fees against the

appellant in the appeal that he had filed, he did not respond for the client, but

rather argued for himself, claiming that he was being bullied by the parties

and the court. Id. at 59.

The Referee found a somewhat different list of aggravating and

mitigating factors that included a failure to acknowledge the wrongful nature

of the conduct and an absence of prior discipline. Mr. Patterson had financial
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problems, but he did not claim he had emotional problems requiring

counseling.

This Court was greatly troubled by the lack of respect and

professionalism demonstrated by Mr. Patterson, and rejected the Referee’s

lesser sanction, imposing a one-year suspension. While the Bar does not

claim this case is identical, it is a very similar case, and the sanction was

imposed under the newer policies favoring harsher sanctions.

While the Bar has emphasized the need for counseling in this case,

the lack of respect and professionalism in this case is little different from that

in Mr. Patterson’s case. The scope and extent of the frivolous filings in this

action is far greater than in Mr. Patterson’s first case. All in all, the Patterson

case is recent case law clearly supporting a one-year suspension in this

case. It unquestionably demonstrates that such a sanction is within the

reasonable range for these violations. It establishes that a one-year sanction

is not a recommendation that is too harsh for the circumstances or an outlier

from the norm.

IV. The rehabilitation of Mr. Locke and the interim protection of the
public are the important goals of the sanction in this case.

In 1970, this Court explained the three purposes of lawyer discipline in

The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970):
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1. The judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting

the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying

the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue

harshness in imposing a penalty.

2. The judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to

punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage

reformation and rehabilitation.

3. The judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might

be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations.

These purposes have remained the same for fifty years. See also, The

Florida Bar v. Barrett, 897 So. 2d 1269, 1275–76 (Fla. 2005); The Florida

Bar v. Cohen, 919 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 2005); The Florida Bar v. Spear, 887 So.

2d 1242, 1246 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So. 2d 983, 986 (Fla.

1983).

In this case, the Bar is not arguing that the public should be deprived

of Mr. Locke’s services for a long period of punishment when Mr. Locke

would otherwise be capable of providing service. But to be fair to society,

the Bar submits that Mr. Locke needs a period of true rehabilitation, and that

with his cooperation that should be accomplished with a one-year

suspension.
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Similar to Mr. Patterson’s case, the Bar is not recommending a

sanction primarily as punishment for Mr. Locke. Yet, even in light of his

hypersensitivity, some of Mr. Locke’s behavior is hard to excuse. It involves

intentional misconduct that warrants some punishment. But the one-year

suspension is primarily needed to encourage the reformation and

rehabilitation that Mr. Locke had not even commenced at the time of the

sanction hearing.

The Bar would note that it is not asking this Court to mandate the

involvement of the Florida Lawyers Assistance. That organization

undoubtedly would be willing to help, but if Mr. Locke believes that through

his church or some other organization there would be a better source of

counseling, the Bar believes he should have that option.

Finally, and again similar to Mr. Patterson’s case, with proper

counseling, the Bar hopes that it will not need to “deter” misconduct by Mr.

Locke in the future. He is not only capable of rehabilitation; with his

experience, he is capable of serving clients with distinction if he can control

the counter-productive conduct that currently is harmful to his clients.

But his case can also serve to encourage others who are overloaded

by stress and burn-out to seek beneficial help rather than to express their

frustration by lashing out at the judiciary and by blaming others for their own
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misconduct. And there are lawyers who engage in avoidable waste of

judicial resources, name-calling in filings, and inappropriate public criticism

of the judiciary who do need to be deterred from that conduct.

The Bar submits that a one-year suspension is supported by the

competent, substantial evidence, the Standards, and the case law. The

Referee’s recommendation has no reasonable basis under the proper

analysis.

CONCLUSION

The Bar asks this Court to reject the recommendation of the Referee

for a non-rehabilitative 90-day suspension and impose a rehabilitative one-

year suspension. During the suspension, Mr. Locke should be required to

attend the Ethics School and the Professionalism Workshop. The Bar is not

asking this Court to compel Mr. Locke to seek any specific regimen of

counseling prior to reinstatement, but it certainly encourages Mr. Locke to

seek the counseling he needs to address his emotional problems as part of

the elements required to establish proof of rehabilitation.. The Court should

impose the costs recommended by the Referee.
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